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PAUL J. McNULTY
United States Attorney
Eastern District of Virginia

Assistant U.S. Attorney
Eastern District of Virginia

2100 Jamieson Avenue ! . F
Alexandria, VA 22314 -
(703) 299-3700

e »
~_ERAK, UG, (135 mcT 7

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

ALEXANDRIA DIVISION
)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)
Plaintiff )
) Civil Action No. O\ '\%L{L\ ’A’ -
v. )
)
PET EXPRESS, INC. ) COMPLAINT FOR CIVIL
a corporation ) PENALTIES, INTUNCTIVE
d/b/a EPET.NET, LLC, and ) AND OTHER RELIEF
: )
JONATHAN KROEGER )
individually, )
)
Defendants. )
' )

Plaintiff, the United States of America, acting upon notification and zuthorization to the

Attorney General by the Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”), for its Complaint alleges

that;

1. Plaintiff brings this action under Sections 5(a)(1), s5(m)(1)(A), 13(b), 16(a) and 19

of the Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a)(1), 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b),

56(a) and 57b to obtain monetary civil penalties and injunctive and other relicf for defendants’
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violations of the Commission's Trade Regulation Rule Concerning the Sale of Mail or Telephone

Order Merchandise (the “Rule”), 16 C.F.R. Part 435, and injunctive relief for violations of

Section 5(a)(1) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1) .

JURISDI (8] D VENUE

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter under 28 U.S.C. §
53(b), S6(a) and 57b. This action arises

2. § 1331, 1337(a),

1345, and 1355, and under 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(m)(1)(A),

under 15 U.S.C. § 45(2)(1)-

3. Venue in the Eastern District of Virginia is proper under 15 U.S.C. § 53(b) and

under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b-c) and 1395(a).
DEFENDANTS

4. Defendant Pet Express, Inc. is a Delaware Subchapter S corporation with its
principal place of business Jocated within the Eastern District of Virginia at 7703 Ridgecrest
Drive, Alexandria, VA 22308. Defendant was incorporated in 1996 and has transacted business

continuously in the Eastem District of Virginia since thern.

5. Defendant Jonathan Krocger is the President of Pet Express, Inc. and is

responsible for its day-to-day operations. He has formulated, directed, or controlled the acts or

practices of Pet Express, Inc., including the various acts and practices set forth herein. His
business and home address is the same as that of the corporate defendant. In connection with the
matters alleged herein, Jonathan Krocger transacts business in the Eastern District of Virginia.

DEFENDANTS’ COURSE OF CONDUCT

6. From January 1997 through September 2000, defendants offered for sale and sold

by mail, telephone, and the Intemnet premium brands of dog or cat food to consumer and busingss
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s throughout the United States. Defendants soljcited these sales on their Intcrnet

r at www.EPet.net. The majority of

customer.

te, found first at www.PetXpress.com. and late

ses ordering six or twelve month supplies of

websl
pet

defendants” sales were (o CONSUINELS O busines

food for serial delivery.

7. Since 1997 defendants have represented that they shipped merchandise to reach

the customer within two business days of one of three dates chosen by the customeT, either the

5h 15% or 25" of the month. Defendants represented that orders received five business days of
more prior to the rcquested delivery date would be delivered by that date; orders received less
me would be delivered on the requested

than five business days prior to the requested delivery ti

day the following month.
8.  Throughout 1999 and continuing thereafter, defendants experienced processing
dclays, computer failures and supplier problems. In numerous mstances, defendants failed to
ship some or all of the first installments and some or all of subsequent installments of pet food

within the stated time.
9. Throughout 1999 and continuing thereafter, when merchandise was not shipped

within the stated time, defendants’ only attempt to communicate with the customer was to note

the delay on the customer’s order status section of their website. In all instances in which
for serial

defendants failed to ship merchandise or the first installment of merchandise ordered

delivery, they thereby did not, within the stated time, offer the buyer an aption either 1o consent
to a delay in shipping or to cancel the buyer’s order and receive a prompt refund.
10.  In numerous instances CONSUMEIs paid for merchandise they never received at all,

andise they ordered for serial

or paid for and received only the initial installments of merch
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y of these consumers have never recejved appropriate refunds from the

delivery. Man
defendants.
THE RULE
11. The Rule was promulgated by the Commission on October 22, 1975, under the

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 41 et seq and became effective February 2,1976. On September 21,

1993, the Rule was amended under Section 18 of the FTC Act, 15 US.C. § 57a, and the
drmnents took effect on March 1, 1994. The Rule applies to orders placed by mail, telephone,

amern
pect 1o merchandise ordered for serial delivery

facsirnile transmission or on the Internet, With res

(a)(1) of the Rule provides that the Rule applies only to

(such as magazine sales), Section 435.3

the initial shipment.

VIQOLATIONS OF THE RULE

s engaged in the sale of merchandise

12. At all times material hereto, defendant ha
ordered by mail, telephone or on the Intcrnet, in comimerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section

4 of the FTC Act, 15U.S.C. § 44.
35.1(a) of the Rule by

13. [n numerous instances, defendants have violated Section 4

g mail, telephone, or Internet orders for the sale of merchandise when they had no

e to ship some or all of the merchandise, or

solicitin

reasonable basis to expect that they would be abl

some or all of the first installment of merchandise ordered for serial delivery, within the time

stated in their solicitations.

14. In numerous instances, after having solicited mail, telephone, or Internet orders

for the sale of merchandisc and received “properly completed orders,” as that term is defined in
Section 435.2(d) of the Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 435.2(d), and having been unable to ship some or all

of the first installment of merchandise ordered for serial

of the merchandise or some or all
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delivery, to the buyer within the Rule's applicable time, as sct forth in Section 435.1 (a)(1) of the

Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 435.1(a)(1) (the “applicable time"), defcndants have:

(1) of the Rule by failing within the applicable time to

Violated Section 435.1(b)

a.
offer to the buyer, clearly and conspicuously and without prior demand, an option
either to consent to a delay in shipping or to cancel the buyer’s order and receive 2
prompt refund; and

b. Violated Section 435.1(c) of the Rule by failing to deern an order canceled and to

rompt refund to buyers entitled to such refund under the Rule.

FTC Act, 15 US.C. § 57a(d)(3), 2 violation of

make a p

15. Pursuant to Section 18(d)(3) of the

e act or practice in violation of Section 5(2)(1) of the

the Rule constitutes an unfair or deceptiv

FTC Act, 15 US.C. § 45(a)(1)-

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 5(a)(1) OF THE FTC ACT

sUS.C.§ 45(ay1), provides that unfair or

16. Scction S(a)(1) of the FTC Act, 1

deceptive acts or practices in or affecting comumerce are unlawful.

17. Defendants advertise, offer for sale, sell and distrbute dog or cat food for serial

Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 US.C. §44.

delivery in commerce, as “cornmerce’” 18 defined in
18. Defendants have di sseminated or have caused to be dissemninated advertising on

their website for their products. This advertising contained the following statements regarding

their shipment of merchandise ordered for serial delivery:

a. “We are authorized dealers of 22 premium & super premium brands of food,
including Hill’s Science Diet, Iams, Pro Plan, Nutro and Nature’s Recipe.”

b. “pet Express will guarantee that your shipment will arrive within 2 business days

of the stated time.”
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«And did we mention that Pet Express pever runs out of your food? Haveyou

ever made a special trip to the pet store, only to find out they’ve run out of your

will never happen with home delivery from Pet

pet’s preferred food? That

Express.” (Emphasis in original.)

19.  Through the use of the statements contained in the advertising quoted in

paragraph 18, and other staternents not specifically set forth herein, defendants have represented,

merchandise ordered for serial delivery to the

directly or by irplication, that they would deliver

e time he or she requested delivery, and that delivery

purchaser within two business days of th

within that time was guaranteed.
20. Defendants did not possess and rely upon a reasonable basis that substantiated the

at the time the representations were made. Therefore,

representations sct forth in paragraph 19

and are dcceptive acts of practices in violation of

the representations in paragraph 19 above were

Section 5(2) of the FTC Act, 15U.8.C. § 45(a).
CONSUMER REDRESS AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

CIVIL PENALTIES,

d above with knowledge as set forth

21. Defendants have violated the Rule as describe

in Section 5(m)(1)(A) of the FTC Act, 15US.C. § 45(m)(1)(A).

le during the five years preceding the filing of this

22. Each sale or attempted sa

Complaint in which defendant has violated the Rule in one or more of the ways described above

constitutes a separate violation for which plaintiff seeks monetary civil penalties.

23. Section S(m)(1)(A) of the FIC Act, 15US.C. § 45(m)(1)(A), as modified by

Section 4 of the Fcderal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461, and

Section 1.98(d) of the FTC’s Rules of Practice, 16 C.F.R. § 1.98(d), authorizes this Court to

jolation of the Rule.

award monelary civil penalties of not more than $11,000 for cach such v
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of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57b, authorizes the court to award such

hers resulting from defendants’

24. Section 19

relief as is necessary to redress the injury to consumers or ot

violation of the Rule.

TC Act, 15U.S.C. § 53(b), this Court is authorized to

ovide such other

25. Under Section 13(b) of the F

issue a permanent injunction against defendants’ violating the FTC Actand pr

equitable relief as is necessary to redress injury to consumecrs or others resulting frormn defcndants’

violations of the FTC Act.
PRAYER

WHEREFORE, plaintiff requests this Court, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a)(),

45(m)(D(A), 53(b) and 57b, and the Court's own equilable powers to:
ntiff for each violation

(1) Enter judgment against defendants and in faver of plai

alleged in this Complaint;

penalties from defendants for each violation of the

(2) Award plaintiff monetary civil

Rule;
tly enjoin defendants from violating the Rule;

ction 5(a) of the FTC Act;

3) Permanen

Permanently enjoin defendants from violating S¢

(4)

©)) Permanently enjoin defendants from failing to provide all outstanding refunds,

ach consumer who is entitled to such refund under the

promptly and in full, toe

Rule;
d such equitable relief as the Court finds necessary 10 redress injury to

(6) Awar
ijons of the FTC Act, including but not

consumers resulting from defendants’ violat
limited to rescission of contracts, refund of monies paid, and disgorgefncnt of ill-

gotien gains; and
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(7)

DATED:

Award plaintiff such additio

/?,/ue by

TEL:27

nal relicf as the Court may deem just and proper.

FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

ROBERT D. McCALLUM, Jr.
Assistant Attorne€y General
Civil Division

U.S. Department of Justice

PAUL J. McNULTY

United States Attorney
Easterp District of Virginis

By:

Assistant U.S. Attorney VsBir 13149
Eastern District of Virginia

2100 Jamieson Avenue

Alexandria, VA 22314

(703) 299-3700

EUGENE M. THIROLF

Director
Office of Consumer Litigation

By- “;@gzﬁdy/bld @LW(./
ELIZABRJH STEIN
Attomey

Office of Consumer Liti gation
Civil Division

U.S. Department of Justice
Washington, D.C. 20530
(202) 307-0486
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OF COUNSEL:

ELAINE D. KOLISH
Associate Director
Division of Enforcement
Federal Trade Commission

HEATHER A. HIPPSLEY
Assistant Director
Division of Enforcement
Federal Trade Comrmission

JOEL N. BREWER

Attomey

Division of Enforcement
Federal Trade Cormmission
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20580

(202) 326-2967
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PAUL J. McNULTY
United States Attormey
Eastern District of Virginia

Assistant U.S. Attorney G
Eastern District of Virgima A

2100 Jamieson Avenue R
Alexandria, VA 22314 ‘
(703) 299-3700 , i,l'

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURF- "~
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

ALEXANDRIA DIVISION
)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)
Plaintiff )
) Civil Action No. O\'[XL{ q *A
v, )
)
PET EXPRESS, INC. ) CONSENT DECREE AND
a corporatiofl ) ORDER FOR INJUNCTIVE
d/b/a EPET.NET, LLC, and ) AND OTHER RELIEF
)
JONATHAN KROEGER )
individually, )
)
Defcndants. )
)

WHEREAS plaintiff, the United States of America, has commenced this action by filing

the Complaint herein; defendants have waived service of the Sumnions and Complaint; the

parties have been represented by the attorneys whose names appear hereafter; and the parties

have agreed to settlement of this action upon the following tens and conditions, without

adjudication of any issue of fuct or law, without admitting liability for any of the matters alleged

in the Complaint;

Consent Decree, Page 1 of 11
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THEREFORE, upon stipulation of plaintiff and defendants, it is hereby ORDERED,

ADJ'U'DGED, and DECREED as follows:

1. This Court has jurisdiction of the subject matter and of the parties.

2. The Complaint states 2 claim upon which relief may be granted against the
Federal Trade

defendants under Sections 5(a)(1), S(m)(1)XA). 13(b). 16(a) and 19 of the

Commission Act, 15 U.8.C. §§ 45(2)(1), 45Gm)(1)(A). 53(b), 56(a) and 57b.

DEFINITION

3. For the purposes of this Consent Decree, the term "Rule" means the Federal Trade

Commission's Trade Regulation Rule Concerning Mail or Telephone Order Merchandise, 16

C.F.R. Part 435, or as the Rule may hercafter be amended. A copy of the Rule is attached hereto

as "Appendix A" and incorporated herein as if fully set forth verbatim.

CIVIL PENALTY

4. Defendant Pet Express, Inc., its successors and assigns, and defendant Jonathan

Kroeger shall pay to plaintiff a civil penalty, pursuant to section S(m)(1)(A) of the Federal Trade

Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(m)(1)(A), in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars

($100,000.00). Defendants are jointly and severally liable for payment of the civil penalty.

Based on delendants’ sworn represcntations in their financial statements dated January 6 and
March 2, 2001, filed with the Federal Trade Commission, payment of the monetary civil penalty

e accuracy and completeness of both financial statements.

is suspended, contingent upon th

5. Plaintif[’s agrecment to this consent decree s expressly premised upon the

| condition of defendants, as represented

truthfulness, accuracy, and cornpleteness of the financia

Consent Decree, Page 2o0f1l
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in the financial statements referenced above, which contain material information upon which the

plaintiff relied in negotiating and agreeing to suspend the civil penalty stated in the consent

urt finds that either defendant made any material

decree. If, upon motion by the plaintiff, this Co

r of the financial statements, the entire amount of the

misrepresentation in or omission from eithc

red against defendants will be immediately due and

$100,000.00 suspended judgrent ente

y such motion, the only issue shall be whether the financial

payable. In connection with an

information either defendant provided in either of the financial statements was fraudulent,

misleading, inaccurate or incomplete in any material respect. For purposes of this paragraph, and

but not limited to a

any subsequent proceedings to enforce payment, including

ptcy proceeding, defendants waive any right to

nondischargeability complaint filed in any bankru

contest any of the allegations of plaintiff’s Complaint.

6. In the event of any default in payment, which default continues for ten (10) days

beyond the due date of paymcnt, the entire unpaid penalty, to gether with interest, as computed

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, from the date of default to the date of payment, shall immediately

become due and payable.

CONSUMER REDRESS

7. Defcndant Pct Express, Inc., its successors and assigns, and defendant Jonathan
Kroeger shall, within fifteen (15) business days after service of this Order, compile from their

d from any other inforration made available to them by

regularly kept business records an

Plaintiff, a list containing, for each buyer who ordcred and paid for but did not reccive shipment

of any item of merchandise by the date of service of this Order, his or her name, last known
andise ordered, including all charges

address, the total purchase price paid for all items of merch

Consent Decree, Page 3 of 11
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for shipping and handling costs and applicable taxes, and the pro rata price of all items ordered
but not shipped- Defendants shall, within thirty (30) business days after service of this order,
mburse each buyer on this list the full pro rata price of the unshipped 1tems.

INJUNCTION

rei

8. Defendants, thir successors and assigns, and their officers, agents, servants,

cmployees and attomeys, and all other persons in active concert or participation with them who
receive actual notice of this Consent Decree by personal scrvice or otherwise, are hereby
subsidiary, division or other device,

enjoined from violating, directly or through any corporation,

any provision of the Rule, including but not limited to:

a. Soliciting orders for the sale of telephone or mail order merchandise unless they
have a reasonable basis to expect that they can ship such merchandise within the

time stated in the solicitation or, if no time is stated clearly and conspicuously in
pleted order,

the solicitation, within thirty (30) days after receipt of a properly com

as required by 16 C.F.R. § 435.1(2)(1);

jcuously and without prior demand,

b. Failing to offer to the buyer, clearly and consp

an option either to consent to a delay in shipping or to cancel the order and receive
a prompt refurd, as required by 16 CF.R. § 435.1(b)(1);
asonable time after first becoming aware of their inability to

CFR. §435.1(a)1) to

c. Failing, within a re

ship, and in no event later than the time set forthin 16

offer the buyer an option either to consent to a delay in shipping or 0 cancel the

order and receive a prompt refund, as required by 16 CF.R. § 435.1(b)(1); and

r canceled and to make a prompt refund to buyers who are

F.R.§ 435.1(c)-

d. Failing to deem an orde

entitled to such refunds under the Rule, as required by 16 C.

Consent Decree, Page 4 of 11
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Rule is hereafter amended or modified, defendants’

his

9. In the event the Mail_Ordér

compliance with that Rule as so amended or modified shall not be decmed a violation of t

injunction.
agents, servants,

10. Defendants, their succcssors and assigns, and their officers,

articipation with them who

employees and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or p

rvice or otherwise, in connection with

receive actual notice of this Consent Dceree by personal sc

the solicitation of any sale of nerchandise ordered by mail, telephone, facsimile or via the
Internet, for serial delivery, in or affecting commerce, are hereby enjoined from representing,

expressly or by implication, the serial shipment or serial delivery time for the merchandise

ng the sale, they have a reasonable basis to expect that they can ship

unless, at the time of soliciti

the merchandise in the time represented.

COMPLIANCE

1L Defendant Pet Express, Inc., shall, within thirty‘(30) days of the entry of this
Consent Decree, provide a copy of this Consent Decree and the Business Guide to the Federal
“Business Guide”)

Trade Commission’s Mail or Telephone Order Merchandise Rule (Jan. 1995) (

to each of its supervisory or managenial agents, servants, employees and attorneys who are

cngaged in defendant’s mail, telephone, facsirnile or Internet order sales business, secure from
cach such person a signed statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of this Consent Decree and
Business Guide, and shall, within ten (10) days of complying with this paragraph, file an affidavit
with the Associate Director, Division of Enforcement, Bureau of Consumer Protection, Federal

Trade Commission, 600 Pennsylvania Ave., NW. Washington, D.C. 205 80, setting forth the fact

- and manner of their cornphance, including the name and title of each person to whom a copy of

the Consent Decree and Business Guide has been provided.

Consent Decree, Page 50f 11
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12.  For a period of five (5) years from the date of entry of this Consent Decree, the

corporate defendant, its successors and assigns, shall maintain and make available to the Federal

Trade Commission, within seven (7) days of the date of receipt of a wnttcn request, business

records demonstrating compliance with the terms and provisions of this Consent Decree.

13. For a period of twenty (20) years from the date of entry of this Consent Decree,
shall natify the Associate Director, Division

the corporatc defendant, its successors and assigns,

on, Federal Trade Commission, 600 Pennsylvania

of Enforcement, Bureau of Consumcr Protecti

Ave., NW, Washington, D.C. 20580, at least thirty (30) days prior to any mcrger, incorporation,

lting in the emergence of a successor corporation, creation or

dissolution, assignment, sale resu

parent, or any other changes in corporate status which may affect

dissolution of a subsidiary or
s under this Consent Decree. Provided, however, that with respect to any

defendant’s obligation
Jearns less than thirty (3 0) days prior

proposed change in the corparation about which defendant

to the date such action is to take place, defendant shall notify the Commission’s Associate

Director for Enforcement as soon as practicable after obtaining such knowledge.

14. For a period of five (5) years from the datc of entry of this Consent Decrec, the

individual defendant shall notify the Commission's Assaciate Director for Enforcement within

thirty (30) days of any change in his affiliation with, or change in his active participation in the

management or direction of, any business which is engaged in the sale or distribution of

dise covered by the Rule. Provided, however, that with respect to any change in his

merchan
affiliation or participation, as aforesaid, about which defendant leamns less than thirty (30) days
prior to the date such action is to take place, defendant shall notify the Commission's Associate

Director for Enforcement as scon as practicablc after obtaining such knowledge.

Consent Decree, Page 6 of 11
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15.  One hundred twenty (120) days after entry of this Consent Decree, defendants

shall provide a2 written report to the F ederal Trade Comrnission, SWormn to under penalty of

perjury, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which defendant has complied and is

ith this Consent Decree. This report shall include but not be limited to:

complying W

a, a specimen copy of each delay option notice used for purposes of complying with
any provision of the Rule, and a statement setting forth in detail the procedures in
place and method for providing such notices to consumers in a timely fashion;

b. a specimen copy of each advertisernent or telemarketing script that contains a
shipping or delivery representation;

c. a statement setting forth in detail defendant’s procedures for providing prompt
refunds pursuant to the Rule;

d. 1 staternent setting forth in detail the basis for claiming that defendant will ship
merchandise, or the initial shipment of merchandise ordered for serial delivery:
L within the time stated in any advertisemecnt;
1. within thirty (30) days, where no time is stated clearly and conspicuously

in any advertisement;

e. a statement setting forth in detail the basis for any serial shipment or serial
delivery representation; and

f. a statement setting forth in detail the manner and form in which defendant has

satisfied all redress obligations required by this Order, including, but not limited

10, a copy of the list compiled pursuant to Paragraph 7 of this Order, and the

amount of redress paid to each consumer on this list.

Consent Decree, Page 7 of 11
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Defendants shall mail this written report to: the Associate Director for Enforcement, Bureau of
600 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W., Washington,

Consumer Protection, Federal Trade Comumission,

D.C. 20580.
16.  Defendants are hereby required, in accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, to furnish

to the Federal Trade Commission their taxpayer identifying numbers (employer identification
number and Social Security number), which shall be used for purposes of collccting and

reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of their relationship with the government.

CONTINUING JURISDICTION

This Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter for the purposcs of enabling any

y time for such further orders or

17.

of the parties to this Consent Decree to apply to the Court at an
directives as may be necessary or appropriate for the interpretation or modification of this

Consent Decree, for the enforcement of compliance therewith, or for the punishment of

violations thereof.

JUDGMENT IS THEREFORE ENTERED in favor of plaintiff and against defendants,

pursuant to all the terms and conditions recited above.

Dated this day of , 2001.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

The parties hereby consent to the terms and conditions of the Consent Decree as set forth

above and consent to the entry thereof. Defendants waive any rights that may arise under the

Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the investigation and prosecution of

this action.

Consent Decree, Page 8 of 11
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FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

ROBERT D. McCALLUM
Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

U.S. Department of Justice

PAUL J. McNULTY
United States Attorney
Eastcm District of Virginia

?Ma

Assistant United States Attorney VS@ 15144

Eastern District of Virginia
2100 Jamieson Avenue
Alexandria, VA 22314
(703) 299-3700

By:

EUGENE THIROLF

Director
Office of Consumer Litigation

By: Sl il M Il oo
ELIZABETH 8TEIN

Attorney

Office of Consumner Litigation

Civil Division

U.S. Department of Justice

P.O. Box 386

Washington, D.C. 20044

(202) 307-0486

Consent Decree, Page 9 of 1 1
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FOR THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION:

s 0Ll
ELAINE D. KOLISH

Associate Director

Division of Enforcement

Bureau of Consumer Protection
Federal Trade Commjssion

J-//’;’z'od' AN 71 .‘\
HEATHER A. HIPPSL)
Assistant Director

Division of Enforcement

Bureau of Consurmer Protection

J .
“Athmey
Division of Enforcement
Bureau of Consumer Protection
Federal Trade Comrmission
600 Pennsylvania Ave., NwW
Washington, D-C. 20580
(202) 326-3309

Conscat Dccree, Page 10of 11
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FOR THE DEFENDANTS:

=7
JONATH OEGER

Individually

PET EXPRESS, INC.

%«' GER
President

7703 Ridgcerest Drive
Alexandria, VA 22308

)
\

Inc.

Counse r Pet EXpress,
Raymo . Kline, Esq.
211 North Union Street
suite 100

Alexandria, VA 22314
(703) 836-7047

VA 2ar QTFEFC
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§433.3

SELLER OF cooRs OR SERVICES oB-
TAINED WiTH THE PROCEEDS HEREOF.

RECOVERY HEREUNDER BY THE DEBTOR
SHAaLL NOT EXCEED AMOUNTS PAID BY
THE DEBTOR HEREUNDER.

{40 FR 53506 Naw, 18, 1975 40 FR 58131, Dec.
15, 1975)

54333 Exemption of sellers taking or

receiving opes end consuIner credit

contracts before November 1, 1977
from mqujrzments of § 433.2(a)-

(a) ADY seller who has raken or re-
ceived an open end consumer credit
contract before WNovemnber 1. 1977. shall
be exempt from the requirements of 1
CFR part 433 with respect 1O such con-
tract provided the conwract does not
cut off consum rs” clal and defenses.

by Definidons. The following defini-
tjons apply €@ this exernption:

(1) All
tained In 18 CFR 432.1.

(2) Open end consumer credit con”
tracr: 8 consumer credit contract purr
cuant to which “open end credit’’ is ex-
rended.

(3) "Open end credit’’: consumer ¢red-
it axtended on a0 account pursuankta
a plan under which a creditor may pér-
mirt an applicant te make purchases or
make loans, [rom time to time. di-
recrly from the creditor oF jndirectly
by use of a credic card. check, or other
device, as the plan may pro\ride. The
term does not include negotiated ad-

‘wvances under an open-end real estate

mortgage or 3 lettel of credit.

(4) Contract which does not cut off
consumers’ claims and defenses: A con-
surner eredit contract which does not
constitute of contain 3 nego:iab]e in-
strument, or contain any waiver. limi-
vacion. term. of condition which has
the effect of limiting 2 consumer's
right to assert against any holder of
the contract all legally sufTicient
claims and defenses which the gon-
sumer could assert against the seller of

" goods of services purchased pursuant

to the contract,

|42 FR 19430 Apr. 14, 1877, a3 amended 3¢ 42
FR 48510 Sepc. 13 1977]

PART 435—MAlL OR TELEPHONE
ORDER MERCHANDKSE

Sec.
1151 The rule.

perzinent definitians con-

TEL:27

16 CFRCh. | (1-1-00 gdifion)

4382 Deflnirions-
4353 Limiced appllabllir_y.
435.4 Elffecrive dare of the rule.

ALITHORITY: 15 U.S-C. 37413 U.5.C. 552.
SOURCE: 58 FR 43121, Sepc- 21, 1993, unless
otherwise noted.

5435.1 Tbe rule.

In connection with mail or celephone
order sales in of affecting cammerce.
as ~commerce’” 1S defined in the Fed-
eral Trade Commission AcE. jc con-
sritutes an unfair method of campeti-
tion, and an unfair or decepeive act of

ractice for 2 seller:
(a){1) To splicit any order for the sale

tion, OF
(il) if no time is clearly and consplcu-

ously stated, wichin chirty (39 days
afcer receipt of a properly complet

order from the buyer. Provided. how-

ever, where, at the time the merchan-
dise is ordered the buyer applies @ the
seller for eredic to paY for the mer-
chandise in whole or in part. the seller
shall have 50 days. rather than 30 d2ys.

o perform the actions required in
§435.1(a) (i) of this part.

(2) To provide any buyer with any re-
vised shipping dare, as provided in
paragraph () of this section. unless. at
the time 3nY such revised shipping
date is proﬁded. rhe seller has B rea”
sonable Dbasls for making such rep-
reseatation regarding 2 definite revise
shipping date.

3) To inform any buyer that it is un-
able to make any representatinn re-

arding the lengch of any delay unless

(i) the seller has 2 reasonable basis
for so informing the buyer and

(i) the celler informs the puyer of
the reasan or reasons for the delay.

(&) In any sctrion brought by the Fed-
aral Trade Cormmission. alleging a vio-
{ation of this part. the railure of a re
spondent-seller 9 mave records ©or
orher documentary prool establishing
its use of systems and proce
—hich assure che shipment of merchan-
dise in the ordinary course of business
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federal Trade Commission

within any applicable time ser forth in
this part will create 3 rebuttable pre-
surmption that the seller lacked a rea-
sonable basis for any expectation of
shipment within said applicable time.

) (1) Where a seller is unable to ship
rmerchandise within the applicable
rime set forth in parag-raph (ay(1) of
this section. Co fai] to offer to the
buyer. clearly and conspicuocusly and
without prior dernand, an option gither
to consent to @ delay in shipping or €O
cancel the buyer's order and receive 2
prompt refund. Said offer shall be made
within a reaspnable cime after the sell-
er First becomes aware of its inability
to ship within the upplicable time set
forth in paragraph (a)(1) of this section,
but in no event later than said applica-
ble cime.

(i) Any offer To the buyer of such an
opcion"shall fully irnform the buyer ré-
garging the buyer’s right 10 cancel the
arder and to obtain 3 prompt refund
and shall provide a definite revise
shipping date. but where the sellar
lacks » reasonable basis for providing @
definite revised shipping date the no-
tice shall inform the buyer that the
seller is unable o make any represen’
tatioh regarding the length of the
delay.

(ii) Where the seller has provided 2
definite revised shipping date which is
thirty (30) days oc less lacer than the
applicable rime set forth in paragreph
(a)(1) of this section. the offer of said
optian shall expressly inform the buyer
that. unless the seller receives, prior o
shipment and prior to the expiration of
the definite revised shipping date, @ re-
sponse from the buyer rejeccing the
delay and cancelling the order. the
buyer will be deemed to have consented
co a delayed shipment on of before the
definite revised shipping date.

(iii) Where the saller has provided 2
definite revised shipping dare which is
more than thircy {30) days later than
the applicable cimse set forth in para-
graph {a)(1) of this section or where che
seller is unable Lo provide 2 delinite re:
vised shipping date and therefore in-
forms the buyer chat it is unable toO
make any representation regarding the
Jengeh of the delay. the offer of said op-
tion shall alsa expressly inform che
puyer that the puyer's order will Duto:

§435.1

matically be deemed to have been can-
celled unless:

(a) The seller has shipped the mer-
chandise within thircy (30) days of the
applicable cime set forth in paragraph
(a)(1) of this section, and has receiv
no cancellation prior o shipment. o7

®) The seller has received [rom the
buyer within thirty (30) days of said ap-
plicable ume. a response specifically
consenting te said shipping delay.
Where the seller informs the buyer
ghat it is unable T0 make any represen-
tacion regarding che length of the
delay, the buyer shall be expressly fn-
formed xhat. should the buyer consenct
to an indefinice delay. the buyer will
have a continuing right to cancel the
puyer’s order at any time after the ap-

licable time set forth in paragraph
(a) (1) of this section by so notifying the
seller prior o actual shipment.

(iv) Nothing in this paragraph shall

rohibic a seller who fumnishes a. defi-
nire revised shipping date pursuant 0
paragraph OIDIVEY this section. from
requesting. simultaneously with or at
gny time subsequent to the ofTer of an
corion pursuant to paragraph ) of
this seccion, the buyer’s express con-

™ senmt to a further unancicipated delay

beyond the definite revised shipping
date in the form of a response from the
buyer specifically consenting €O said
[urther dzlay- Provided. however, That
where the seiler solicits consent to 2t
unanticipated indefinite delay the s0-
licitation shall expressly inform the
buyer that, should the buyer 50 consent
to an indelinite delay. the buyer shall
have 2 continuing right o cancel the
buyer’s order 23t any time alter the
definite revised shipping date by s@ no-
ifying che seller prior to actual ship-
ment.

(2) Where & seller is unable to ship
merchandise on or befsre the definite
revised shipping dace provided under
paragraph ®y((i) of this seccion and
consented o by the buyer pursusnt to
paragraph () (i) or (1) of this sec-
tion. to fail o offer to the buyer. clear-
ly and conspicuously and without prier
demeand. 2 renewed option either €O
consent to 3 furcther delay or o cancel
the arder and Lo receive a prompt re
fund. Said affer shall be made within 2
reasonable time after cthe seller firse
becomes 3ware of its inability to ship
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§4a3s.l

pefore the said definice revised date,
but in no event later than the expira-
tion of the definice revised shipping
dacte: Provided, however,
the seller previously has obtained the
buyer's express consent to an unantcicl-
pated delay until a specific dare be-
yond the definite revised shipping date.
ursuanc to paragraph (b) (1) (iv) of this
csection or to 3 further delay uncil 8
specific date peyond the definire re-
vised shipping date puLrsuant para-
graph (b)(2) of this section. that date Lo
which the buyer has expressly con-
senced shall supersede the definite re-
vised shipping date
paragraph (®) (2) of this section.

(i) Any ofler to the buyer of said re-
newed option shall provide the buyer
wicth a new delinite revised shipping
date. but where the seller lacks a rea-
sonable basis [or providing a new defi-
nite revised shipping date, the notice
shall inform the buyer that the seller
{s unable to make any representation
regarding the length of the further
delay.

{ti) The offer of a renewed optiorn
shall expressly inform the buyer that,
unless the seller recelves. prior o the
expiration of the old definite revised
shipping date or any dare superseding
the old definite revised shipping date.
motification from the buyer specifically
consenting to the [urcher delay, the
buyer will be deemed to have rejected
any furcher delay. and to have can-
celled the order if cthe seller is in fact
unable 1o ship prior o the expiration
of the old delinite revised shipping date
or any date superseding the old definite
revised shipping date Provided. how-
ever, That where the seller offers the
buyer the option to ~onsent to an in-
definite delay the offer shall expressly
inforrm the buyer that, should che
buyer SO consent 1o 37 indefinite delay.
the buyer shall have 2 continpuing right
to cancel the buyer’s order at any time
after the old definite revised shipping
date or any date superseding the old
delinite revised shipping date.

(iil) Paragraph (b)(2) of this section
shall not apply te any sicuation where
a seller. pursuant to the provisions of
paragraph (b} (1) (iv) of chis section. has
previously obrained consent [rom the
buyer to an indelinite extension be-
yond the first revised shipping date.

for purposes of

16 CFRCh. | (1-1-00 Ediion)

{(3) Wherever a buyer has the right to
exercise any O i
1o cancel an order by so notifying che
seller prior o shipment, Lo fail to fur-
nish the buyer with adeguate means. at
the seller’s expense. to exercise such
ppuion or to notify the seller regarding
cancellacion.

Nothing in paragraph {b) of this sec-
tion shall prevent 2 seller. where i€ is
unable to make shipment within the
time set forth in paragraph (a)(1) of
chis section or within a delay pes
consented to by the buyer. from decid-
ing to consider che order cancelled and
providing the buyer with notice of said
decision within 8 reasonable time after
it becomnes aware of said inabilicy t©
ship, rogether with a prempt refund.

(c) To fail te deem an order cancelled
and to make a prompt refund to the
buyer whenever-

(1) The seller receives, prior td the
time of shipment. notification from the
buyer cancelling the order pursuant o
any option. renewed option or con-
cinuing opcien under this part
_ (?) The seller has. pursuant o para-

.gt’aph m) (i of this section. pre-

vided che buyer with a definite revised
shipping date which is more than thir-
ty (30) days later than the applicable
cime set forth in paresgraph (2)(1) of
n or has nocified the buyer
that it is unable T make any represen-
vation regarding the length of the

delay end the seller
(i) Has not shipped the merchandise

within thirty (30) days of the applicable
cime set forth in paragraph (ay(1) of
this section. and ’

(1) Has not received the buyer’s ex-
press consent to said shipping delay
within said thircy 30) days:

(3) The seller is unable to ship within
the applicable cirme sec forth in para-
graph (®)(2) of this section, and has not
received. within the said applicable
time. the buyer’s censent to "and [ur-
ther delay:

({) The seller has notified the buyer
of its inabilicy @ make shipment and
has indicated ics decision not tO ship
the merchandise:

(5) The seller fails o offer the option
prescribed in paragraph (b){l) of this
secrion and has not shipped che mer-
chandise within the applicable tirne sec
forth in paragraph {(2){1) of this section.
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Federal Trade Cormrmission

.{d) In any action brought by the Fed-

eral Trade Commission. alleging a vio-
lation of this parC. the failure of a re-
spondent-seller toc have records or
other documentary proof establishing
its use of systems and procedures
which assure compliance, in the erdi-
nary course of business., with any re-
quirement of paragraphs (b) or () of
this section will create a rebuttable
presumptlon that the seller failed to
comply with said requirement.

§435.2 Definitions.

For purposes af this part:

(a) Mail or telephone order sales shall
mean sales in which the buyer has or-
dered merchandise from the seller by
mail or telephone. regardless of the
mechod of payment or the method wsed
o solicit the arder.

(b) Telephone refers o any direct or
indirect use ol the telephone to order
merchandise, regardless of whether the
telephone is activated by, or the lan-
gunge used is that of human beings.
machines, or both.

(¢) Shipment shall mean the act by
which the merchandise is physically

Jaced in the possession of the carrier.

(d) Receipt of & properly completed
order shall mean, where the buyer
tenders full or partial payment in the
proper ameunt in the form of cash.
check. money order, or autharization
from the buyer ta charge an exisCing
charge account. the time at which cthe
seller receives both said payment and
an order from the buyer containing all
of the infermation needed by the seller
to process and ship the order. Provided.
however, That where the seller receives
motice that the check or meney order
tendered by the buyer has been dishon-
ored or that the buyer does mot qualify
for a credit szle. receipt of 2 properly
completed order shall mean the time at
which:

(i} The seller recelves notice that 2
check or money arder for the proper
amount tendered by the buyer has been
honored,

(ii) The buyer tenders zash in the
proper amount, of

(iii) The seller receives notice that
the buyer qualilies for a credit sale.

() Refund sholl mean:

(1) Where the huyer tendered full
paywenc for the unshipped merchan-

TEL:27

§435.2

dise in the form of cash. check or
money order, a return of the amount
tendered in the form of cash. check or
money order:

(2) Where there is a credit sale:

(i) And the sellec ls a creditor. a copy
of a credic memorandum or the like or
an accownt statement reflecting the re-
moval or absence of any remaining
charge incurred as a result of cthe sale
fram the buyer’s account:

{ij) And a third party is che creditor.
a copy of an appropriate credit memo-
randurmn or the like €0 the third party
crediror which will remove the charge
from the buyer’s account or a 5tate-
ment from the seller acknowledging
the cancellation of the order and rep-
resenting that it has not taken any ac
vion regarding the arder which will re-
sulr in a charge (0 the buyer’s account
with the third party:

{iji) And the buyer tendered partial
payment for the unshipped merchan-
dise in the form of cash, check or
money order, 3 recurn of the arnount
cendered in the form of cash, check or
money order.

(F) Prompt refund shall mean:
~T1) Where 2 refund is made pursuant
to paragraph (&) (1) or (2)(iii) of this
section. a refund sent o the buyer by
ficst class mail within seven (7) work«
ing days of the date on which the buy-
er's right to refund vests under the pro-
vislons of chis part

(2) Where a refund is made pursuant
to paragraph (@)(2) (i) or (id) ol this sec-
tion. 8 refund sent o the buyer by first
class mall within one (1} billing cycle
from the date on which the buyer’s
right to refund vests under the provl-
sions of this part.

The time of solicitation ol an order
shall mean that tirme when the seller
has:

{1) Mailed or otherwise disserninated
the solicitation to 3 prospective puf-
chaser,

(2) Made arrangemeants for an adver-
riserment concaining che solicitation to
sppear In 3 newspaper. magazine or the
like wr on radio or television which
cannat be changed or cancelled without
incurring subscantial expense. or '

{3} Made arrangements for the print-
ing of a cacalog, brochure or the like
which cannet be changed without in-
curring subscancial expense, in which
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§435.3

¢he solicitation in question forms an
snsubstantial part.

{s8 FR 49121, Sept. 21,1983, 33 amended at 8
FR 56950, Nov. 3. 1995}

54353 Limited spplicability.

{a) This part shall not apply €2t

(1) Subscripdens. such as magazine
sales, ordered for carial delivery. after
the initial shipment is made in compli-
ance with this part

(z) Orders of seeds and growing

lants,

(3) Orders made 0n 2 collecc-an-deliv-
ery (C.0.D.) basis.

(4) Transactions governed by the Fed-
eral Trade Commission’s Trade Regula-
tlon Rule enticled -Use of Negative Op-
cion Plans by Sellers in Commerce,”" 16
CFR part 425

@) By taking action in this areal

(1) The Federal Trade Coramission
does not intend ce preempt action in
the same area, which 1s not incon-
sistent with this part by any State.
municipal. or other local government.
This part does not anpul or diminish
any righes or remedies provided Lo cane

sumers by any State Jaw. municipal ors

dinance. or other local regulation. in-
sofar as those rights or remedies are
equal wo or greater than those provided
by this part. In addition. this part does
not supersede rhase provisions of any
State law. municipal eordinance. or
other local regulation which impose
ebligations or liabilicles wpon sellers.
when sellers subject tO this part are
not in compliance therewith.

(2) This part does supersede those
provisions of any State law. municipal
ardinance, or octher local regulacion
which are inconsistent with this paft
to the extent that rhose provisions do
not provide a buyer with rights which
are equal o oF greacter than those
rights granted a buyer by this part
This part also supersedes these provi-
sions of any State 1aw, municipal ordi-
nance. or other Jocal regulation requir-
ing thac B buyer be notified of 2 right
which is the same as a right provided
by this part but requiring that 2 buyer
be given notice of chis righec in 8 lan-
guage, farm, or manner which is dil-
ferent in any way [rom that required
by chis part. in chose instances where
any Scate law. municipal ordinance. of
other local regulation contains provi-

16 CFrR Ch. | (1-1-0q Edition)

sions, sormne but pot ali of which are
partially or completely superseded by
chis part. the provisiens or porions of
thase provisions which have not been
superseded retain their full force and
efTect.

() U eny provision of this part, or 1ts
application @ any person. pnrtn:rship.
corporation. act or pracdice is held In-
valid. the remainder of this part or the
applicadnn of the provision t@ any
other person. par\'_nership. corporation.
act or practice shall not be afTected

cthereby- -
§435.4 Effective date of the rule.

The orlginal rule. which became el
[ective 100 days after its promulgatlon
on October 22. 1975. cemains in effect

The amended rule. 35 set forth In this
part, becames effective March 1, 1934.

PART 436—DISCLOSURE REQUIRE-
MENTS AND PROHIBITIONS CON-
CERNING FRANCHISING
BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY VEN-

TURES

Sec.
436.1 The Rule.
436.2 Deliniciona.
436.3 Severabillicy.

AUTHORITY: 38 Sgac. Ti7. as amended. 15
U.S.C. 41-58,

source: 43 FR 59614, Dec. 21, 1978, unless
acherwise noted.

§436.1 The Rule.

In connection wich che advertising.
offering, licensing. contracting. sale. v
ather promotion in or afTecting com-
merce. 35 ~commerce’ 5 defined in the
Federal Trade Commission Act. of any
franchise, or any relationship whieh is
represented gither orally or in writing
to be a [ranchise. it ls an unfair or ce-
ceptive act or practice within the
meaning of seccion 5 of that Act for
any [ranchiser of franchise broker:

{a) To fail to furnish any prospective
franchlsee with the following informa-
tion accurdtely. clearly. and concisely
staced. in 3 Jegible, written document
at the earlier of the "time [or making
of disclosures” of the first "personal
meeting :

(H{i) The ofTicial name and address
and principal ploce ol business of the

416
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REASONS FOR SETTLEMENT

nsent Decrec and Order for Injunctive and Other
Inc., and Jonathan Kroeger. The Consent Decree

enjoins Defendants from violating the Mail or Telephone Order Merchandise Rule, 16 C.F.R.
Part 435, with respect to single shipments or first installments of merchandise ordered for senal
delivery, and requires them to have 3 reasonable basis for their shipment representations for
subsequent shipments of merchandisc ordered for serial delivery. The Consent Decree suspends
payment of a $100,000 civil penalty because of the defendants’ inability to pay, but requires them
to pay redress to COnsumers who paid for but never received merchandise from them.

This statement accompanies the Co
Relief executed by defendants Pet Express,

] Trade Commission Act, as amended, 15

Pursuant to Section 5(m)(3) of the Federa
for settlement by entry of a

U.S.C. § 45(m)(3), the Commission hereby sets forth i1s reasons
Conscnt Decree for Injunctive and Other Relief:

ed in the Complaint, and on the basis of
Commission, the Commission believes thar,
f the payment of $100,000 in civil penalties
At the same time, the

On the basis of the allegations contain
defendants” sworn financial statements to the
because of their inability to pay, suspension o

by Pet Express, Inc., and Jonathan Kroeger is appropriate.
requirement that they pay redress to all consumers who paid for merchandise they never

received should remedy the harm they did to consumers. Further, the provisions
enjoining defendants from failing to comply with the Mail or Telephone Order
Merchandise Rule with respect to single shipments or first installments of merchandise
ordered for serial delivery, and from failing to substantiate their shipment representations
for subsequent shipments of merchandise ordered for serial delivery, should assure their
future compliance with the Jaw. Additionally, with the entry of the Consent Decree, the

time and expense of litigation will be avoided.

ns, the Commission believes that the settlement by the

For the foregoing reaso
ecree is justified and well within the public interest.

entry of the attached Consent D

P.
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i
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING ‘
. i -:.—7”"_'———’ i

By its undersigned attorney, the United States certifies that_a true.and egrrect

foregoing Complaint for Civil Penalties, Injunctive and Other Relief and proposed Consent
Decrce and Order for Injunctive and Other Relief, (Defendant having waived scrvice of
Summons and Complaint), were mailed to Defendant Jonathan Kroeger and Defendant's counsel

at the below addresses by U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, on December 4{'_,"2001.

Raymond D. Kline, Esquire
211 North Union Street, Suite 100
Alexandria, VA

22314

Jonathan Kroeger
7703 Ridgecrest Drive
Alexandria, VA

22308
Constance H. Frogale ;

Assistant United States Attormey

VSB No. 18144
United States Attorney Eastemn District 0

2100 Jamieson Avenue
Alexandria, VA 22314
(703) 299.3752

f Virginia



